STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Anderson County

J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOHN FITZGERALD KENNEDY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002621

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. PACHAK
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in allowing a photographic lineup into evidence that contained mug shots because it let the jury know appellant had a prior record and deprived him of a fair trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was convicted of murder after a jury trial held before the Honorable J. Cordell Maddox on December 2 – 5, 2013, in Anderson County. A thirty (30) year sentence was imposed. Andrew Potter, Esquire, was the trial attorney. Catherine T. Huey, Esquire, was the assistant solicitor.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in allowing a photographic lineup into evidence that contained mugshots because it let the jury know that appellant had a prior record and deprived him of a fair trial.

The indictment charging appellant with murder alleged that he did on or about March 20, 2012, kill Claud Schaffer Scott by means of blunt force trauma. At trial, Kimberly King testified that the victim was married to her grandmother many years ago and she's always known him as her grandfather. She lived nearby the 75 year-old victim. He sold used cars. She checked on him once or twice a day because his health was not good. She would help him clean and do chores around the house. On March 30, 2012, Julie Moore stayed in the trailer with the victim. Appellant stayed in a camper behind the trailer. (R. p. 146, line 13 – R. 148, line 7). She checked on the victim that day around noon. Julie was there, but was getting ready to leave. Appellant was in the yard working on a car. Between 5 – 6 PM, she went to check on the victim again. The front door was locked. Usually at that time, the door was open, or if it were closed, it would be unlocked. She thought that was strange. She knocked on the door and appellant came from the back of the trailer and said the victim was asleep. Appellant was real sweaty and looked “weird.” She asked if the back door was locked and appellant said it was not. Then appellant hurried around and locked the back door. She went back around to the front and started beating on the door. Appellant had the key to one of the victim's cars and drove away. (R. p. 150, line 12 – R. 153, line 18).

Kimberly continued to beat on the door. The victim finally opened the door and she could see he was badly beaten and he fell back in the doorway. She immediately called

9-1-1. (R. p. 154, line 22 – R. 155, line 2). When she looked inside, she could see the furniture had been moved like there was a struggle. There was a frying pan laying next to the victim. His phone was laying next to him broken, and he was bloody from head to toe. (R. p. 156, lines 1 – 7). While she was calling 9-1-1, a neighbor, David Evans, came over to help. (R. p. 157, line 21 – R. 158, line 4).

David Evans testified next. He knelt over the victim and asked him what happened. The victim said John the black guy hit him. (R. p. 178, lines 4 – 25).

Deputy Dunn said he responded to the hospital where the victim had been taken. The emergency room staff asked the victim who hurt him and he said John did it. (R. p. 201, lines 20 – 25; R. p. 204, lines 1 – 7).

Detective Bearden testified that she also responded to the hospital.¹ She asked the victim if he knew who done it and he said John done it. (R. p. 208, lines 1 – 6). She went back to the office and prepared a photo lineup. Because Kimberly King had told the police appellant was at the scene, Detective Bearden included him in the lineup. When she put together the display, she used a program called the “Mug Web” where you can put in a suspect’s name, and you can pick a picture out of a lineup if they have been arrested before. Then the program will pull up similar pictures. She took the display to Ms. King and she picked out number four, which was appellant. (R. p. 208, line 23 – R. 212, line 2).

When the State sought to introduce the photo lineup, defense counsel objected. Outside the presence of the jury, he said it was clear the pictures were not from driver’s license photographs. They were all mug shots and appellant was one of them. He said it was unduly prejudicial and under Rule 403, SCRE, prejudicial. The trial court thought the

¹ The victim died at the hospital.

photos were from driver's licenses. The assistant solicitor said they could have been, but they were from mug shots in this case. The trial court told defense counsel he was protected for the record, but he was going to admit. (R. p. 212, line 19 – R. 214, line 12). A little later, defense counsel was allowed to put on the record that the testimony was that the detective took the photographs from booking photos. The evidence implied appellant had been arrested before and had a prior record and was prejudicial. The trial court again said defense counsel was protected for the record, but it was admissible. (R. p. 222, line 2 – R. 223, line 6).

After the State rested, defense counsel renewed his objection to the photo array. (R. p. 371, lines 8 – 20). It put appellant's character in issue and was prejudicial. The trial court said it wished the pictures were driver's license pictures, but again ruled against appellant and said he was protected. (R. p. 374, line 18 – R. 375, line 23).

It was error to admit the mug shot photo lineup. In State v. Tate, 288 S.C. 104, 341 S.E.2d 380 (1986), the Court wrote:

This Court has held that the introduction of a "mug shot" is reversible error unless it is shown that: (1) The state had a demonstrable need to introduce the photograph; and (2) the photographs themselves, if shown to a jury, must not imply that the defendant had a prior criminal record; and (3) the photograph must not be introduced in such a manner to draw attention to the source or implication of the photograph. *State v. Robinson*, 274 S.C. 198, 262 S.E.2d 729 (1980); *State v. Denson*, 269 S.C. 407, 237 S.E.2d 761 (1977); citing *United States v. Harrington*, 490 F.2d 487 (2d Cir. 1973).

In Tate, the first two prerequisites were not met and the prejudicial effect of the photographs outweighed any probative value.

In appellant's case, the State didn't even need a lineup because Ms. King already knew who appellant was. The assistant solicitor even admitted the photos could have come

from driver's license photos, but she chose to use the mug shots. She even went so far as to tell the jury the photos came from a "Mug Web" where people had previously been arrested. She either didn't know what the law was on mug shots or didn't care. The photograph was introduced in such a manner to draw attention to the source of the photograph. So all three prerequisites are met in this case. The prejudicial effect of the photograph outweighed any probative value.

Rule 403, SCRE, provides that "evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice..." Unfair prejudice "means an undue basis to suggest decision on an improper basis." State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 401 S.E.2d 146 (1991) (citation omitted). The mug shot placed appellant's character into issue. In Mitchell v. State, 298 S.C. 186, 379 S.E.2d 123 (1989), the Court wrote:

In a criminal case, the State cannot attack the character of the defendant unless the defendant herself first places her character in issue. State v. McElveen, 280, S.C. 325, 313 S.E.2d 298 (1984); State v. Swords, 279 S.C. 554, 309 S.E.2d 750 (1983); State v. Gamble, 247 S.C. 214, 146 S.E.2d 709 (1966). Further, evidence of prior bad acts is inadmissible to show criminal propensity or to demonstrate that the accused is a bad person.

In State v. Ross, 272 S.C. 56, 249 S.E.2d 159 (1978), the Court noted: "Character evidence is so highly prejudicial that it is usually excluded under hard and fast rules." (citation omitted). The mug shot also suggested prior bad acts. In State v. Johnson, 293 S.C. 321, 360 S.E.2d 317 (1987), the Court elaborated on the subject:

It is well established that evidence of other crimes or prior bad acts is inadmissible to show criminal propensity or to demonstrate the accused is a bad individual. See, e.g., State v. Gregory, 191 S.C. 212, 4 S.E.2d 1 (1939). Evidence of other crimes is never admissible unless necessary to establish a material fact or element of the crime charged. See, United States v.

Johnson, 610 F.2d 194 (4th Cir.1979); State v. Byers, 277 S.C. 176, 284 S.E.2d 360 (1981); State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). Even if evidence of other crimes is deemed relevant and admissible, the evidence may still be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of undue prejudice or misleading the jury. *See, State v. Wilson, 274 S.C. 635, 266 S.E.2d 426 (1980).* Implicit in the rules of evidence which permit the introduction of prior bad acts or crimes into evidence is the prerequisite that they establish some element, i.e., intent or motive, of the crime charged. *See, e.g., State v. Lyle, supra; State v. South, 285 S.C. 529, 331 S.E.2d 775 (1985); and State v. Huggins, 285 S.C. 361, 329 S.E.2d 759 (1985).*

293 S.C. at 324-325, 360 S.E.2d at 319.

The defense in this case was that this case was based on “circumstance, assumptions, and speculation.” (R. p. 137, lines 23 – 25). The investigation was flawed. (R. p. 139, line 7 – 24). And someone else lived with the victim. (R. p. 140, lines 10 – 15). Appellant was not the one who committed the crime. The admission of mug shot evidence in this case was deliberate and prejudicial as it placed appellant’s character into issue with a prior arrest. The wrongful admission of this evidence requires reversal.

CONCLUSION

Appellant's conviction should be reversed.