ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Anderson County

J. Cordell Maddox, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOHN FITZGERALD KENNEDY,

APPELLANT,

Appellate Case No. 2013-002621.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

KAYCIE S. TIMMONS  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 100237

P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-0265

CHRISTINA T. ADAMS  
Solicitor, Tenth Circuit  
P.O. Box 8002  
Anderson, SC 29622  
(864) 260-4046

RECEIVED

DEC 08 2014

SC Court of Appeals

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

## ARGUMENT

Though the trial court erred in admitting a photo lineup, a new trial is not required as there was no undue prejudice where the photo of Appellant was not a traditional “mug shot” and where it was unclear to the jury whether the photo was from a prior arrest or from a driver’s license and where there was substantial evidence, both direct and circumstantial, that Appellant committed the murder.

### Introduction

The trial court erred in admitting a photo lineup containing a photo of Appellant from a prior arrest because there was no demonstrable need for the State to introduce the photo, but the error does not require a new trial. Because the photo was not a traditional “mug shot,” and because it was unclear from the testimony whether the photo was a driver’s license photo or was an arrest photo, the jury was not alerted to Appellant’s prior record. Additionally, there was overwhelming evidence of guilt presented at trial, including Victim’s dying declaration and forensic evidence, which pointed to Appellant as the person who beat Victim. Therefore, Applicant’s conviction should be affirmed as no prejudice resulted from admission of the evidence.

### How the Issue Was Raised at Trial

At trial Kimberly King testified that she encountered Appellant coming from the back of Victim’s home immediately before finding Victim severely beaten. (R. p. 150, line 12–p. 155, line 2). King testified that Appellant had been living in a camper behind Victim’s home for one or two weeks. (R. p. 148, lines 1–22). According to King, “I didn’t really know him until he really like moved in. I didn’t know him, know him. I seen him around a few times in the neighborhood before he moved over there. But the most I’ve ever seen him is five or six times. Maybe seven times.” (R. p. 148, lines 11–15). During her testimony, King identified Appellant as John F. Kennedy, whom she had

seen at Victim's home on March 30, 2012. (R. p. 148, line 23–p. 154, line 16). King also testified that when she met with Investigator Bearden later that evening, she picked Appellant out of a photo display as the man she had seen leaving Victim's home. (R. p. 159, line 19–p. 161, line 16). King also signed an affidavit to that effect at that time. (R. p. 160, line 25–p. 161, line 16).

The State presented the photo display to the jury through Bearden's testimony. (R. p. 208, line 21–p. 216, line 4; R. p. 455). Bearden testified to the following:

This is the photo lineup, the original that I put together and printed that evening and the Affidavit of Photo Identification that I printed that evening at the same time and also filled out on the scene with the witness.

Q. And so when you were putting together the display, what kind of characteristics are you looking for?

A. We have a program that's called Mug Web. And you put in a suspect's name, and you can pick a picture out of a lineup if they've been arrested before and in the system. When you get that picture up, it'll pull up similar—you pull up similar pictures. You go through and choose. What I went through to choose—

Q. And—I'm sorry. Go ahead. I apologize.

A. What I went through to choose would be people with similar coloring as far as skin characteristics, length of hair, facial hair, anything like that, the same age. You want somebody within the same parameter. You don't want exactly the same, but you want similar.

Q. Okay. Now Ms. Bearden, you can also pull photos from driver's licenses too; isn't that correct?

A. You can, yes.

Q. Now, in terms of what specific characteristics in this case were you looking for in terms of physical characteristics?

A. I was looking for a black male, middle aged, thin to medium build, approximately—I've already said medium complexion. Short hair,

some facial hair that looked like the picture that we had of Mr. Kennedy on file.

(R. p. 209, line 16–p. 210, line 19). Bearden then went on to describe the procedure she went through in showing the photo lineup to King and in having King sign the affidavit.

(R. p. 210, line 20–p. 212, line 18).

When the State sought to have the photo display and affidavit published to the jury, defense counsel objected. (R. p. 212, line 19–p. 213, line 2; R. pp. 454–55). The following discussion then took place *in camera*:

MR. POTTER: Judge, the main purpose of this objection is the item itself. It's a photo array, and it's clearly not taken from driver's license photographs. These are all mug shots and which my client is one of them. And I think it's unduly prejudicial. At the very least under 403, prejudicial towards my guy because what's going to happen is they're going to take that back there and look at it, and they're going to see mug shots. They're not going to see driver's license photos.

THE COURT: Well, how was this—I thought it was from driver's license photo?

MS. HUEY: It could have been. This was from mug shots in this particular case.

THE COURT: Let me look at it.

MS. HUEY: I think Ms. Bearden has it. I mean, all you can see is the face, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. You're protected on the record. I'll allow that in. I mean, I—you're assuming they know it's a mug shot. And you and I may know it, but—

MR. POTTER: Well, I think it's fair to say that's not a photograph from the D.M.V. They're not in a collared shirt or smiling for that matter or anything like that.

(R. p. 213, line 6–p. 214, line 4). Ultimately, the trial court found the photos to be admissible. (R. p. 214, lines 11–12).

Upon the jury's return to the court room, defense counsel immediately asked for a bench conference. (R. p. 214, lines 13–18). Judge Maddox and counsel then conferred off the record. (R. p. 214, lines 20–21). Judge Maddox announced that they had taken up an objection off the record and that they would preserve the objection during a break. (R. p. 214, lines 22–25). The trial court then allowed the State to publish the photo display and affidavit to the jury. (R. p. 215, line 1–p. 216, line 4).

At the next break, the following discussion took place:

THE COURT: Okay, Let's go back to the objection and go ahead and document that. We had an off-the-record conversation in which the objection was made. And I'll be happy to hear from you.

MR. POTTER: Judge, the testimony was she took the photographs from booking photos from the Sheriff's department. And that's the reason for the objection of it being admitted because it implies that my client has been arrested before and that there's a prior record with the court—excuse me—with law enforcement.

In addition to that, the photograph has Anderson County Sheriff's Department written—or Sheriff's office written on top of it. It can easily be inferred these are booking photographs. These are not photographs taken from the D.M.V.

THE COURT: It says it on the pictures?

MR. POTTER: It says it right above the pictures.

MS. HUEY: Just printed from her computer, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. POTTER: And in big bold letters, Anderson County Sheriff's Office is written on there. And again, Judge, I think

it's highly prejudicial that those are photographs that clearly are booking shots.

THE COURT: Okay. All right. Well—and you're protected for the record. I think it's admissible. It would probably be better if it came from driver's licenses, but I don't think that makes it inadmissible.

(R. p. 222, line 2–p. 223, line 6).

Defense counsel renewed his objection to the photo array at the end of the State's case, but the trial court specifically found the photo array was more probative than prejudicial. (R. p. 370; line 15–p. 375, line 23).

#### Standard of Review

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. *State v. Gaster*, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002). An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. *State v. McDonald*, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000).

The South Carolina Supreme Court has held that

the introduction of a “mug shot” is reversible error unless it is shown that: (1) The state had a demonstrable need to introduce the photograph; and (2) the photographs themselves, if shown to the jury, must not imply that the defendant had a prior criminal record; and (3) the photograph must not be introduced in such a manner to draw attention to the source or implication of the photograph.

*State v. Tate*, 288 S.C. 104, 106, 341 S.E.2d 380, 381 (1986) (citing *State v. Robinson*, 274 S.C. 198, 262 S.E.2d 729 (1980); *State v. Denson*, 269 S.C. 407, 237 S.E.2d 761 (1977); *United States v. Harrington*, 490 F.2d 487 (2d Cir. 1973)).

Though the Court has cautioned that the use of mug shot photos should be avoided, where the erroneous admission of such a photo did not result in prejudice, the

Court has affirmed the conviction of the defendant. *State v. Traylor*, 360 S.C. 74, 84–85, 600 S.E.2d 523, 528 (2004). Additionally, the Court has recognized that any resulting prejudice could be harmless in light of other occurrences at trial. *Tate*, 288 S.C. at 106, 341 S.E.2d at 381.

#### No Demonstrable Need to Introduce Photo Lineup

Initially, Respondent must concede that the State did not have a demonstrable need to introduce the photo lineup. Though the State was not asked for and did not offer the reason for seeking to have the photo lineup admitted, the circumstances under which the photo lineup was presented in this case are substantially similar to the circumstances of *Tate*<sup>1</sup> where the South Carolina Supreme Court found the prosecution had no demonstrable need to introduce a photo lineup. 288 S.C. at 106, 341 S.E.2d at 381 (“The victim positively identified appellant in court, and there was testimony by Detective Parris that she had picked appellant out of a photographic lineup. Given this competent evidence proving identity, we fail to see the demonstrable need to introduce the ‘mug shot.’”). Thus, Respondent feels constrained to concede that here, too, there was no demonstrable need to admit the photo lineup.

#### No Prejudice to Appellant

The South Carolina Supreme Court has “ferverently caution[ed] trial court judges against utilization of mug shot photos unless absolutely necessary.” *Traylor*, 360 S.C. at 85, 600 S.E.2d at 528. Even so, the Court affirmed an appellant’s conviction where the State had no demonstrable need to introduce a photo lineup, but the admission did not

---

<sup>1</sup> In *Tate* the eyewitness/victim was blindfolded but was able to give a description of one of her assailants. 288 S.C. at 105, 341 S.E.2d at 381. She later picked him out of a six-person lineup. *Id.* At trial the eyewitness/victim identified Tate as one of her assailants, and the prosecution presented testimony that she picked Tate out of a lineup. *Id.*

result in prejudice.<sup>2</sup> *Id.* at 85–86, 600 S.E.2d at 528. In this case, the admission of the mug shot photo did not prejudice Appellant because, to the jury’s knowledge, the photo could have been a driver’s license photo rather than an arrest photo. Moreover, the State presented overwhelming evidence of Appellant’s guilt. Thus, this Court should affirm Appellant’s conviction.

*Photograph Did Not Imply a Criminal Record*

Respondent submits that the photo used in the lineup introduced at trial did not imply that Appellant had a criminal record. Appellant has summarily stated that “all three prerequisites are met in this case[,]” (Final Br. of Appellant p. 8), but has failed to address the nature of the photograph itself. Respondent would submit that the mug shot used in the photo lineup is similar to those that South Carolina courts have found acceptable in other cases—the photo is only a frontal view of each subject’s head and shoulders, there is a blank background behind each subject in the photos, and the photos

---

<sup>2</sup> *Tate* states that it is “reversible error” to admit a mug shot without meeting its three prerequisites. 288 S.C. at 105, 341 S.E.2d at 381 (emphasis added). But, as previously noted, the South Carolina Supreme Court has not reversed where an erroneous admission of a photo lineup did not result in prejudice. *Traylor*, 360 S.C. 84–85, 600 S.E.2d 528 (citing *State v. Locklair*, 341 S.C. 352, 535 S.E.2d 420 (2000), cert. denied 531 U.S. 1093 (2001) (error without prejudice does not warrant reversal)). Thus, it does not appear that our courts find errors under *Tate* to be *per se* reversible, and Respondent has sought to follow this lead in applying the *Tate* standard to the facts of the instant case.

Even if some other standard were applicable in this case, such as a harmless beyond a reasonable doubt standard, *see, e.g., Bishop v. United States*, 983 A.2d 1029 (D.C. Ct. App. 2009) (applying a harmless beyond a reasonable doubt standard “[b]ecause the limitation on the use of mug shots at trial has ‘constitutional underpinnings’”), the circumstances of this case would meet such a standard, *State v. Thompson*, 352 S.C. 552, 562, 575 S.E.2d 77, 83 (Ct. App. 2003) (“Where a review of the entire record establishes the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, the conviction should not be reversed.” (citing *State v. Pickens*, 320 S.C. 528, 466 S.E.2d 364 (1996); *State v. King*, 349 S.C. 142, 561 S.E.2d 640 (Ct. App. 2002))). Respondent has designated the entire record for this Court’s review in case the Court chooses to apply a harmless beyond a reasonable doubt standard.

have been cropped so that no placards are visible. See *State v. Robinson*, 274 S.C. 198, 200–01, 262 S.E.2d 729, 730 (1980) (finding nothing to imply a prior criminal record and noting that the jury could assume the photo was a result of the investigation for murder where a photo lineup showed three different poses of each subject and blacked out written material on the face of each photo); *State v. Denson*, 269 S.C. 407, 412–13, 237 S.E.2d 761, 764 (1977) (finding photos did not imply a prior criminal record where “[t]he photographs were not the juxtaposed full face and profile photographic display normally associated with ‘mug shot.’ Neither did the appearance of the words ‘Richland County’ on one of the photographs inform the jury that appellant had a prior criminal record”); *State v. Ford*, 334 S.C. 444, 450 n.3, 513 S.E.2d 385, 388 n.3 (Ct. App. 1999) (finding a mug shot admissible where “[o]nly the heads and necks of the individuals in the lineup photographs were visible in the photo lineup. The remainder of each photograph was cut away. No identifying clothing or placards were visible in the lineup.”); cf. *Tate*, 288 S.C. at 105, 341 S.E.2d at 380 (finding a photo “clearly” implied a prior record where “[t]he photographs in question were typical police photographs, taken when a person has been arrested, depicting the appellant in two classic poses; a standing close-up facial view and a standing close-up side view. In each picture a small board with the date 11-20-82 and the words ‘SPTBG. CO. SHERIFF’ is hanging around appellant’s neck.”). As counsel for the State noted and the trial court acknowledged, the photos used in the lineup could have been driver’s license photos. Thus, the lineup photo of Appellant did not imply a prior criminal record.

*Introduction of Photograph Did Not Draw Attention to the Source or  
Implication of the Photograph*

When Bearden explained how she made the photo lineup, she stated that she used a program called Mug Web<sup>3</sup> to obtain a photo of Appellant and to find photos of men with similar characteristics. (R. p. 209, line 21–p. 210, line 19). Bearden further testified that the program allows someone to pull pictures of those who have previously been arrested, but she also acknowledged that the program allows someone to pull from driver’s license photos. (R. p. 209, line 21–p. 210, line 12). While describing her process in creating the lineup in Appellant’s case, she stated she looked for photos of men with similar characteristics to the photo of Appellant that they had “on file.” (R. p. 210, lines 16–19).

Respondent submits that this testimony did not draw attention to the source or implication of the photo—as far as the jury was concerned, the photos in the lineup could have been from arrests or from driver’s licenses (or some combination of both). Even in a case where the jury was told that lineup photos “came from the files of the Richland County Sheriff’s Department and the Columbia Police Department,” the South Carolina Supreme Court found “no intimation in the record that the admission of the photographs

---

<sup>3</sup> During defense counsel’s *in camera* cross-examination of Bearden at the pre-trial *Neil v. Biggers* hearing, Bearden testified that Mug Web is the “in-house jail system[.]” (R. p. 78, lines 15–18). Bearden further explained,

The way the system works is you put the target name and pick a picture out. If they’ve been arrested multiple times or even one time, then it will pick the matching person’s the same parameter. Then you physically go through and choose. Because sometimes the computer will put stuff in there incorrect. You’ll have a white female in the white males.

(R. p. 78, line 21–p. 79, line 2). The jury did not hear this explanation of the Mug Web system.

in any way focused the jury's attention on the source of the photos." *Denson*, 269 S.C. at 413, 237 S.E.2d at 764. Here, too, Respondent submits that the photo lineup was not introduced in a manner as to draw attention to the source of the photos.<sup>4</sup> Thus, no prejudice resulted from the admission of the photo lineup containing Appellant's mug shot.

If this Court finds that Bearden's statement regarding her access to arrest photos through Mug Web to be prejudicial, Respondent submits that Bearden's additional

---

<sup>4</sup> Respondent draws this Court's attention to *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999), which Respondent finds instructive on the issue of prejudice. In that case, Council moved for a mistrial after a SLED agent testified that he pulled Council's fingerprint card from SLED records for comparison. *Id.* at 11, 515 S.E.2d at 513. The South Carolina Supreme Court found that the trial court did not err in refusing to grant a mistrial because

it is questionable whether the jury even understood the implication of [the SLED agent's] statement. This Court has held that similar references to a defendant's past conduct were too vague to be prejudicial. *See State v. Singleton*, 284 S.C. 388, 326 S.E.2d 153 *cert. denied*, 471 U.S. 1111 (1985) (references to appellant's prior crimes were vague); *State v. George*, 323 S.C. 496, 476 S.E.2d 903 (1996) *cert. denied*, 520 U.S. 1123 (appellant's possible drug dealing was merely suggested and no testimony was presented concerning such behavior). Further, the State never attempted to introduce appellant's prior criminal record during the guilt phase of the trial. Instead, only an inadvertent vague reference was made to appellant's prior record. *See State v. Robinson*, 238 S.C. 140, 119 S.E.2d 671 (1961) (this Court pointed out that even if the testimony created the inference in the jury's mind that the accused had committed another crime the State never attempted to prove the accused had been convicted of some other crime). Thus, we conclude this reference was not prejudicial.

*Id.* at 13, 515 S.E.2d at 514. In a footnote to that section, the Court distinguished *Council* from *Tate* and indicated that the real prejudice in *Tate* was that the date on the mug shot "infer[red] to the jury that [Tate] had a prior criminal record." *Id.* at 13 n.7, 515 S.E.2d at 514 n.7. The Court further explained, "[i]n this case, the fingerprint card was never introduced into evidence, and therefore the jury was not aware of when SLED obtained the card. Therefore, there was no evidence before the jury or when or for what purpose the fingerprint card was made." Similarly, in the instant case, there was no evidence before the jury of when or for what purpose Appellant's photo was taken.

testimony cured any prejudice. Specifically, counsel for the State had Bearden clarify that Mug Web allows someone to pull from driver's license photos, too.<sup>5</sup> Thus, any prejudicial effect that resulted when Bearden referenced arrest photos was neutralized by that clarification. *Cf. Tate*, 288 S.C. at 106, 341 S.E.2d at 381 (“The prejudicial effect of these photographs outweighs their probative value and the prejudice was neither cured nor rendered harmless by other events which occurred at trial.”).

#### Overwhelming Evidence of Guilt

While Respondent maintains that the jury did not know from Bearden's testimony whether Appellant had a prior criminal record, even if this Court finds to the contrary, Respondent submits that such admission was rendered harmless where there was overwhelming evidence of guilt. As such, this Court should affirm Appellant's conviction.

In this case, the State presented overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt. The State presented evidence at trial that Victim was brutally beaten on March 30, 2012, and that the injuries he sustained in the beating resulted in his death. The State presented the following evidence to prove that Appellant committed the murder:

- Appellant was with Victim earlier in the day when Victim cashed a check for \$1500;
- An eyewitness saw Appellant at Victim's home (the crime scene) immediately before finding Victim severely beaten inside his home;

---

<sup>5</sup> By using the pronoun “she” in his brief, Appellant has conflated Bearden's testimony with the assistant solicitor's statements to the trial court. (Final Br. of Appellant, p. 7–8). To be clear, the assistant solicitor admitted to the trial court (outside the jury's presence) that the photos could have been driver's license photos but were actually mug shots. Bearden, on the other hand, is the one who “chose” the mug shots for the lineup and mentioned Mug Web in front of the jury.

- The same eyewitness testified that Appellant told her Victim was sleeping and then locked the back door to Victim's home, thereby preventing her from entering Victim's home;
- Appellant tried to get the eyewitness to leave Victim's home before he fled the scene in Victim's car;
- Appellant abandoned Victim's car in a parking lot eight miles away from Victim's home and ran away on foot;
- Victim told multiple individuals that Appellant beat him;
- Victim told police he was beaten with a skillet and forensic tests confirmed the presence of Victim's blood on the skillet; and
- Forensic tests confirmed that Victim's DNA was found on Appellant's shorts.

Respondent would further note that the State did not refer to the photo lineup again after its admission. Nor did the State reference the lineup in closing arguments. In light of the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt, any prejudice<sup>6</sup> that resulted from any vague suggestion that Appellant had a prior record was rendered harmless at Appellant's trial.

---

<sup>6</sup> In his brief Appellant also asserts that the prejudicial effect of the mug shot outweighed any probative value. (Final Br. of Appellant, p. 8). However, the trial court expressly found the lineup more probative than prejudicial under S.C. R. Evid. 403, and that finding should not be disturbed absent abuse of discretion. *State v. Hamilton*, 344 S.C. 344, 358, 543 S.E.2d 586, 593 (Ct. App. 2001) ("We review a trial court's decision regarding Rule 403 pursuant to the abuse of discretion standard and are obligated to give great deference to the trial court's judgment), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005).

As argued above, the photo lineup itself did not indicate to the jury that Petitioner had a prior record—those photos could have been driver's license photos. Thus, there was no danger of unfair prejudice to Appellant in admitting the lineup. Additionally, there was some probative value in proving that King correctly identified Appellant as the man she saw at Victim's home on March 30th. The photo lineup and affidavit establish that fact (though the probative value of that evidence is admittedly less significant in the context of the whole trial because other evidence establishes that same fact—namely, King's in-court identification of Appellant and both King's and Bearden's testimony that King identified Appellant in the lineup).

**CONCLUSION**

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment, conviction, and sentence of the trial court should be affirmed.